
STAYING AGILE 
READYING STRENGTHS

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CONTENTS

02 CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

06 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

10 REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE





1 MYP LTD.

“As we move into a new normal of 
living with COVID-19, we embrace 
new opportunities to recover 
from the hardships of the past 
years. Strengthening our focus on 
environmental, social, and governance 
issues and proactively pursuing 
sustainability initiatives will be a key 
priority. ”

JONATHAN TAHIR
Executive Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

2 MYP LTD.

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE



ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

It gives me great pleasure to present to you our Annual 
Report 2023, which showcases the performance of 
MYP Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) for the financial year ended on 31 March 2023 
(“FY2023”). 

As we navigate the aftermath of the global COVID-19 
crisis, we are confronted with both achievements and 
challenges in an economy that is slowly recovering in 
Singapore. For the whole year of 2022, the Singapore 
economy registered an expansion of 3.6%, moderating 
from the 8.9% growth in 2021. The real estate sector 
grew by 14.1% year-on-year, extending the 14.8% 
growth in the third quarter. Growth was supported by 
the private residential property segment, as well as 
the commercial office and industrial space segments1. 
More relevant to our business, the median rentals for 
prime Central Business District (“CBD”) space inched 
up by 0.2% in Q1 2023 to S$10.77 per square foot per 
month, moderating from growth of 0.8% quarter-on-
quarter in Q4 of 20222.

FY2023 FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL 
REVIEW

MYP Ltd. closed FY2023 with a net profit of S$1.8 
million, compared to the net profit of S$3.8 million 
sustained in the financial year ended 31 March 2022 
(“FY2022”). The fall in net profits is mainly due to 
lower revaluation gains from investment properties, 
higher interest rates in FY2023, offset by increased 
revenue and higher amount of interest income. The 
Group’s revenue for the full year FY2023 increased by 
6.6% to S$16.9 million from S$15.9 million in FY2022. 
The increased revenue was mainly on account of 
rent and service income generated from occupancy 
agreements secured in last quarter of FY2022 and 
renewed occupancy agreements in FY2023. The 
Group recorded other income of S$3,000, compared 
to S$16,000 in FY2022, an 81.3% decrease, due to 
the absence of Wage Credit Scheme pay-out, offset by 
increase in other employment credits received during 
the year. 

As at the financial year end, the valuation has increased 
by $0.75 million since the last financial year and this 
has been recognised in the profit and loss statement as 
revaluation gains on investment properties (FY2022: 
revaluation gains of $2.2 million).

1 Ministry of Trade and Industry Singapore, “MTI Maintains 2023 GDP Growth Forecast at “0.5 to 2.5 Per Cent”, 13 February 2023.
2 The Business Times, “Singapore central office rents rise further in Q1 2023, up 5.1%: URA”, 28 April 2023.

The Group recorded higher expenses of S$15.9 million 
in FY2023 as compared to S$14.3 million   in FY2022, 
which was an 11% increase. The higher expenses 
resulted from higher direct operating expenses, net 
finance costs, and increased staff costs, offset by 
lower depreciation, other expenses and tax expenses. 
Lower depreciation expense was on account of fully 
depreciated plant and equipment in FY2023 which was 
still in use. Higher direct operating expenses resulted 
from the higher utility expenses incurred during the 
year. Other expenses in FY2022 included non-recurring 
legal and professional fees incurred in respect of 
the refinancing of the Group’s existing bank loan in 
December 2021 and allowance for impairment loss 
recognised on trade receivables. There are no such 
items in FY2023. Net finance costs increased mainly 
resulted from higher interest rates, absence of non-
recurring interest rate swap (“IRS”) settlement gains 
and de-recognition of derivative payable on expiry of 
IRS, partly offset by interest income earned from fixed 
deposits placed with banks. Interest income earned 
from fixed deposits placed with banks has increased 
from FY2022. The increase in staff costs is mainly due 
to salary increments, which is crucial to the Group as it 
helps attract, motivate, and retain talented employees 
while ensuring fair and equitable compensation.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent as of 31 
March 2023 in the statement of cash flows stood at 
S$94.0 million as compared to S$91.9 million on 31 
March 2022. The Group registered a net cash inflow 
of S$2.1 million as compared to a net cash outflow of 
S$32.9 million in FY2022. The increase in net cash 
was generated from operating activities, mainly rental 
income, partly offset by higher net finance costs. The 
net cash generated from investing activities in FY2023 
comprises mainly interest income received from fixed 
deposits placed with banks. The net cash used in 
financing activities has decreased mainly due to the 
absence of repayment of bank borrowings, no change 
in debt service reserve, absence of transaction costs 
related to bank borrowings offset by higher interest 
paid. The Group’s net asset value per ordinary share 
as of 31 March 2023 stood at 18.1 cents (31 March 
2022: 18.0 cents). 
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Having considered the volatility in interest rates and 
the Group’s investment strategy of keeping a strong 
balance sheet with sufficient resources for future 
investment purposes for long-term and sustainable 
growth, the Board is not recommending any dividend 
for this financial year ended 31 March 2023.

OUR INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 
PERFORMANCE

In FY2023, the Group has one office building as an 
investment property, MYP Centre at 9 Battery Road. The 
property is a 28-storey, 999-year leasehold skyscraper 
with a total net lettable area of approximately 154,708 
sq. ft. The property managed to achieve a steady 
and healthy occupancy of 97.3% in FY2023 (95.8% 
occupancy in FY2022), in line with the prevailing 
market in the Raffles Place / Marina Bay area3.

Our two units at Sky@Eleven and the single unit at 
St. Regis Residences, which make up our residential 
portfolio, remained tenanted in FY2023.

REAL ESTATE SECTOR HIGHLIGHTS AND 
PERFORMANCE

Despite the challenges posed by the global economic 
slowdown in 2023 and rising interest rates, the rental 
market outlook remains positive. Singapore has 
effectively managed the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Singapore real estate market remains resilient as 
investors and occupiers are assured. Although prime 

rents are projected to continue growing in 2023, the 
pace of growth is expected to slow down. There are 
some uncertainties resulting in the moderation of the 
positive momentum previously seen in the office sector. 
Notably, the large-scale job cuts in the tech sector at 
the end of 2022 have led to a more cautious leasing 
sentiment. As the tech sector is looking to rightsize or 
downsize office spaces to contain costs, total shadow 
space (excess space on an existing lease obligation that 
a tenant would like to give up by finding a replacement 
tenant for the landlord) in Singapore is expected to 
triple. Despite the challenges in the tech industry, other 
sectors such as non-banking financial institutions, fast-
moving consumer goods (FMCG), and the co-working 
space market are experiencing a structural recovery4 
and are likely to compensate for the slowdown in the 
office sector. In particular, the co-working space which 
offers valuable workplace flexibility, amenities, and 
opportunities for human interaction, is witnessing high 
utilisation rates and is poised for expansion.

While overall leasing activity is expected to ease due 
to weakening demand, the future supply, especially in 
Grade A core CBD areas, is anticipated to be tight. The 
five-year future islandwide office supply is estimated 
at 0.97 million sq. ft. per annum, 31% below the 10-
year historical average of 1.41 million sq. ft.5 Core 
CBD Grade A office rents are thus projected to witness 
modest growth in 20236. 

3 Knight Frank, “Office Market Update Q1 2023”, 29 March 2023.
4 The Business Times, “‘Tech’-ing a reality check – what’s in it for the office market?”, 13 February 2023.
5 The Business Times, “‘Tech’-ing a reality check – what’s in it for the office market?”, 13 February 2023.
6 CBRE, “Singapore’s Office Market in 2023 to witness modest rental growth led by Core CBD (Grade A)”, 29 March 2023.
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The residential rental market in Singapore is expected 
to face certain challenges in the coming years. While 
the market has shown resilience, factors such as rising 
interest rates, the government’s implementation of new 
cooling measures, and an increase in new housing 
supply are likely to temper the pace of rental growth. 
These factors could contribute to a more moderate rate 
of rental increase in the residential market. 

LOOKING AHEAD TO FY2024

With the World Health Organisation declaring an end to 
the global health emergency caused by COVID-19 in 
2023, there is anticipation for a gradual recovery across 
all sectors, although the pace may be relatively slow. 
Recent events, such as the collapse of Silicon Valley 
Bank and Credit Suisse, have led to a cautious economic 
sentiment worldwide. However, the reopening of China 
provides some optimism for Southeast Asian markets. 
Global commodity prices have eased from 2022 level 
but remain elevated with the ongoing Russia-Ukraine 
war7. Global growth is anticipated to decline from 3.4% 
in 2022 to 2.8% in 20238, and global inflation remains 
high, elevating the risk for a worldwide recession9. In 
Singapore, MAS Core Inflation is projected to remain 
elevated in the coming quarters due to persistent 
global inflation pressures10. Singapore’s GDP growth is 
projected to step down to 0.5-2.5% in 2023, compared 
to 3.6% in 202211. The global economy is still on the 
path to recovery from the pandemic.

The real estate sector will face challenges and 
uncertainties arising from geopolitical issues, high 
inflation, and rising interest rates, putting its resilience to 
the test. Prudent decision-making and wise strategies 
will be crucial as we navigate the future.

As we move into a new normal of living with COVID-19, 
we embrace new opportunities to recover from the 
hardships of the past years. Strengthening our focus 
on environmental, social, and governance issues 
and proactively pursuing sustainability initiatives will 
be a key priority. Despite the challenges we have 
encountered, we will continue to implement effective 
strategies that contribute to a robust portfolio.

WORDS OF APPRECIATION

The Board of Directors and I would like to express 
our heartfelt appreciation to our management and 
staff, our business partners and our tenants for their 
strong support and trust. We are also grateful to our 
shareholders for their continued confidence in the 
Group and its management team. I personally would like 
to extend my sincere thanks to the Board of Directors 
for their invaluable wisdom, generous contribution, and 
unwavering guidance throughout the years.

We are confident that our company is well-equipped to 
navigate through potential obstacles and challenges. 
We will seize the opportunities presented by the 
recovering economy, further strengthen our position 
in the real estate market, drive sustainable growth 
for the Group and continue to deliver value to our 
shareholders.

JONATHAN TAHIR
Executive Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

7 Ministry of Trade and Industry Singapore, “MTI Maintains 2023 GDP Growth Forecast at “0.5 to 2.5 Per Cent”, 13 February 2023.
8 International Monetary Fund, “World Economic Outlook – A Rocky Recovery”, 23 April 2023.
9 The Wall Street Journal, “World Bank Cuts 2023 Global Growth Projection as Inflation Persists”, 10 Jan 2023.
10 S&P Global Market Intelligence, “Singapore Budget 2023 highlights impact of demographic ageing”, 24 Feb 2023.
11 Monetary Authority of Singapore, “Recent Economic Developments”, 17 February 2023.
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Dr Clement 
Wang Kai

Non-Executive
Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Jonathan Tahir
Executive Chairman 
and Chief Executive 
Officer

Mr Kishore 
Prabhakar
Sardesai
Independent 
Non-Executive Director
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Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee 
Wong Ching Wai

Independent
 Non-Executive

Director
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Professor Tan 
Chin Tiong
Independent 
Non-Executive Director
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MR JONATHAN TAHIR
Executive Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer

•	 Bachelor of Science in 
Business Administration, 
National University of 
Singapore

Served on the following Board 
Committees
Nominating Committee – Member

Background and experience
Mr Tahir is the Chairman of various 
listed and private companies in 
Indonesia since 2008. He oversees 
the operations and business of 
the Group and provides corporate 
direction and control.

Present Directorships in other listed 
companies
PT Sejahteraraya Anugrahjaya Tbk
PT Sona Topas Tourism Industry 
Tbk

Date of appointment as director:
27 July 2012

Date of last re-election as director:
29 July 2022

Length of services as director:
10 years and 8 months
(as at 31 March 2023)

MR KISHORE PRABHAKAR 
SARDESAI
Independent Non-Executive Director

•	 Fellow Member of Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, India

•	 Bachelor of Commerce and 
Law, University of Mumbai, 
India.

Served on the following Board 
Committees
Audit Committee – Chairman
Remuneration Committee – 
Chairman

Background and experience
Mr Sardesai has more than 40 
years of experience in finance 
and management. He is currently 
advising various companies in 
South East Asia. He is also the 
Founder and Managing Director 
of Delphi Computech Group of 
companies engaged in consulting 
and training in the field of Enterprise 
solutions for the past 25 years.

As a Financial Consultant over four 
decades, Mr Sardesai’s expertise 
has helped companies in raising 
funds and gearing up for growth in 
the challenging times.

Present Directorships in other listed 
companies
Nil

Date of appointment as director:
27 July 2012

Date of last re-election as director:
30 July 2021

Length of services as director:
10 years and 8 months
(as at 31 March 2023)

DR CLEMENT WANG KAI
Non-Executive Director

•	 PhD in Engineering 
(Management Sciences), 
University of Waterloo, Canada

Served on the following Board 
Committees
Remuneration Committee – 
Member

Background and experience
Dr Wang is actively involved in a 
few non-profit organisations in Asia. 
He was a Visiting Professor at the 
NUS Business School, National 
University of Singapore (NUS). He 
has published in various scholarly 
journals and industry papers. He 
was previously Executive Vice 
President at Overseas Union 
Enterprises Limited and had been a 
Director at Lippo Realty (Singapore) 
Pte Ltd, Food Junction Holdings 
Ltd and IPP Financial Services 
Holdings Ltd.

Present Directorships in other listed 
companies
Nil

Date of appointment as director:
27 July 2012

Date of last re-election as director:
30 July 2021

Length of services as director:
10 years and 8 months
(as at 31 March 2023)
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MRS ELIZABETH HO NEE  WONG CHING WAI
Independent Non-Executive Director

•	 Master of Business Administration (Accountancy), 
Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

•	 Bachelor of Laws, LLB (Hons), National University 
of Singapore

•	 Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.), University of Alberta, 
Canada

Served on the following Board Committees
Nominating Committee – Chairperson 
Audit Committee – Member
Remuneration Committee – Member

Background and experience
Mrs Ho is a Director of KT Ho Pte Ltd and 2H Pte 
Ltd and a Non-Executive Director of Brilliant Bazaar 
Pte Ltd. Mrs Ho is the co-founder of Ho, Wong & 
Partners, a partnership of more than 20 years. She 
is the managing director of Elizabeth Ho LLC. She 
has diverse experience in corporate real estate and 
financing practice, corporate and commercial practice 
and shipping practice.

Present Directorships in other listed companies
Nil

Date of appointment as director:
30 July 2012

Date of last re-election as director:
29 July 2022

Length of services as director:
10 years and 8 months
(as at 31 March 2023)

PROFESSOR TAN CHIN TIONG
Independent Non-Executive Director

•	 PhD in Business, Pennsylvania State University, 
USA

Served on the following Board Committees
Audit Committee – Member
Nominating Committee – Member

Background and experience
Professor Tan is Emeritus Professor of Singapore 
Management University. He was the founding Provost 
and Deputy President of Singapore Management 
University from 1999 to 2009 and also the founding 
President of Singapore Institute of Technology from 
2009 to 2013. He spent 20 years of his career at 
the National University of Singapore, where he was 
heading various initiatives and offices.

Professor Tan was on the board of Citibank Singapore 
Ltd and several other listed companies. He was the 
non-executive chairman of Superior Multi-Packaging 
Ltd and chaired its executive committee. Professor 
Tan has served on committees of various government 
bodies.

Present Directorships in other listed companies
Coteccons Construction Joint Stock Company 
(Vietnam)

Date of appointment as director:
1 January 2015

Date of last re-election as director:
7 September 2020

Length of services as director:
8 years and 3 months
(as at 31 March 2023)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



REPORT ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

10 MYP LTD.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of MYP LTD. (the “Company”) are committed 
to achieving and maintaining a high standards of corporate governance which are essential to the stability 
and sustainability of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), promotion of 
corporate transparency, accountability and integrity of the Group, protection of the interests of the Company’s 
shareholders (“Shareholders”) and maximisation of long-term shareholders’ value.

The Group has substantively complied with the recommendations of the revised Code of Corporate 
Governance 2018 (“Code”), issued on 6 August 2018, through eff ective self-regulatory corporate practices to 
protect and enhance the interests of its shareholders.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities in respect of the 
fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”) with specifi c reference made to the underlying principles and 
provisions of the Code, as required under the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Company is also guided by the voluntary Practice Guidance which was issued to 
complement the Code and which sets out best practice standards for companies. Where there are deviations 
from the Code, appropriate explanations are provided in the relevant parts of this corporate governance report.

1. BOARD MATTERS

 a. The Board’s Conduct of Aff airs
  (Principle 1)

  The Board currently comprises fi ve directors. The principal functions of the Board are as follows:–

   Formulate corporate strategies, fi nancial objectives and directions for the Group;

   Ensure eff ective management leadership of the highest quality and integrity;

   Provide oversight in the proper conduct of the Group’s businesses;

   Oversee and/or evaluate the adequacy of the internal audit, risk management, fi nancial 
reporting and compliance processes;

   Set corporate values and standards to ensure proper accountability within the Group and 
the obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met;

   Oversee and ensure high standards of corporate governance for the Group; and

   Consider sustainability issues such as environmental factors.

  All directors exercise due diligence and independent judgement in dealing with the business 
aff airs of the Group and are obliged to act in good faith and to take objective decisions in the 
best interest of the Group. Directors facing confl ict of interest has recused himself/herself from 
discussions and decisions involving the issues of confl ict.

  The Board also deliberates and makes decisions on material acquisitions and disposal of assets, 
corporate restructuring, dividend payments and other returns to shareholders and on matters that 
may involve a confl ict of interest for any director.

  All new directors are given an orientation of the Group’s business and governance practices, and 
all directors have access to information and further training on new developments, including new 
laws, regulations and changing commercial risks, at the Company’s expense.
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  In addition, a newly appointed Director who has no prior experience as a director of a listed 
company in Singapore must undergo mandatory training organised by Singapore Institute of 
Directors in relation to the roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed company. There was 
no new Director appointed during FY2023.

  To effi  ciently discharge its responsibilities, the Board has established several board committees, 
namely, Audit Committee (“AC”), Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee 
(“RC”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). These committees are given specific 
responsibilities and they are empowered by the Board to deal with matters within the limits of 
authority set out in the terms of reference of their appointments and reporting back to the Board. 
They assist the Board operationally without the Board losing authority over major issues.

  The Board held at least two scheduled meetings each year to review and deliberate on the key 
activities and business strategies of the Group, including signifi cant acquisitions and disposals, 
annual budget, fi nancial performance and to endorse the release of the half-yearly and annual 
fi nancial results. When necessary, additional meetings are held to address signifi cant transactions 
or issues arising from the business operations of the Group.

  The Constitution of the Company provides for directors to conduct meetings by teleconferencing 
or videoconferencing. When a physical meeting is not possible, timely communication with 
members of the Board can be achieved through electronic means. The Board and Board 
Committees may also make decisions through circulating resolutions.

  The frequency of Board, AC, NC and RC meetings held during the fi nancial year and the 
attendance at those meetings are set out below:–

Number of meetings attended during the 
fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023

Name of Director
Board of 
Directors

General 
Meeting

Audit 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Mr Jonathan Tahir 
 (Executive Chairman and 

Chief Executive Offi  cer)

2 2 #2 1 #1

Dr Clement Wang Kai 
 (Non-Executive)

2 2 #2 #1 1

Mr Kishore Prabhakar 
Sardesai (Non-Executive 
and Independent)

2 2 2 #1 1

Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong 
Ching Wai (Non-Executive 
and Independent)

2 2 2 1 1

Professor Tan Chin Tiong 
 (Non-Executive and 

Independent) 

2 2 2 1 #1

No. of meetings held 2 2 2 1 1

  # By Invitation

  In addition, with eff ect from 1 January 2022, all Directors are required to undergo training 
on sustainability matters. In this connection, Board members will complete the mandated 
sustainability training course as required by the enhanced SGX sustainability reporting rules. 
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  Access to Information

  The Board is provided with timely and complete information prior to Board meetings and on an 
on-going basis and board papers are distributed in advance of each meeting of Directors. The 
Company circulates copies of the minutes of the meetings of all board committees to all members 
of the Board to keep them informed of on-going developments within the Group. New members 
are briefed on the business activities of the Group.

  The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the approval of the 
Board.

  The Board has separate and independent access to the senior management and the Company 
Secretary at all times. If necessary, the Board may, in furtherance of their duties, obtain 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

  The Company Secretary attends all board meetings, ensures that established procedures and 
regulatory requirements as well as board policies are complied with and that the directors receive 
appropriate training as necessary.

 b. Board Composition and Guidance
  (Principle 2)

  The Company believes that there should be a strong and independent element on the Board in 
order for it to exercise objective judgment on corporate and business aff airs. Hence, the Board 
comprises fi ve (5) Directors, four (4) of whom are Non-Executive Directors, of which three (3) 
are independent that make up a majority of the Board, and the AC, the RC and the NC are 
constituted in compliance with the Code. The Company also believes that the Independent 
Directors (“IDs”) should be selected for their diverse expertise so that they can provide a balance 
of views.

  The Board considers an Independent Director as one that has no relationship with the Company, 
its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its offi  cers that could interfere, or be 
reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business 
judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company.

  Each independent director is required to complete a director’s independence confi rmation 
annually based on the relevant guidelines as set out in the Code and Rule 210(5)(d) of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST.

  The NC conducted its annual review of the Directors’ independence and confirmed their 
independence in accordance with the guidelines as set out in the Code, Rule 210(5)(d) of the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and also considered any other salient factors. There is no Director 
who is deemed independent by the Board, notwithstanding the existence of a relationship as 
stated in the Code that would otherwise deem him/her not to be independent.

  As Independent Non-Executive Directors make up a majority of the Board, there is a strong 
independent element on the Board and no individual or groups of individuals are able to dominate 
the Board’s decision-making process. The Independent Non-Executive Directors have the 
necessary skills and experience to assist the Board in decision making and to provide a check 
and balance to the Board as they are not involved in the day-to-day operations of the Company. 
The NC was satisfi ed that the Company has complied with the Rule 210(5)(c) of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST.
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  As the Chairman of the Board is not an Independent Director, the NC has reviewed the 
composition of the Board and was satisfi ed that the Independent Directors make up a majority of 
the Board provides the Board with independent and objective judgment on the corporate aff airs of 
the Group.

  The Company is in compliance with the relevant provisions requiring majority of the Board to be 
made up of Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors as set out below:–

  Provision 2.2 Independent directors make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not 
independent; and

  Provision 2.3 Non-executive directors make up a majority of the Board.

  The Board believes that the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi  cer (“CEO”) has always 
acted and will continue to act at all times in the best interest of shareholders as a whole and will 
strive to protect and enhance the long-term shareholder values and the fi nancial performance of 
the Group.

  As of the report date, Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai and Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching 
Wai have served on the Board beyond nine (9) years from the date of their fi rst appointments. 
The NC has conducted a rigorous review of their continuing contribution, character, background 
and independence.

  The NC considered that Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai and Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching 
Wai continued to demonstrate a strong spirit of professionalism, independence of conduct at the 
Board and Board Committee meetings. They have been consistent and diligent in discharging 
their duties and exercise sound independent business judgment in the deliberation for the best 
interest of the Company and objectivity which did not diminish over time. The length of their 
services on the Board didn’t aff ect their independence from the Management and the Board as 
they continue to express their independent views and debate the issues in the Meetings.

  However, on 11 January 2023, Singapore Exchange Regulation (SGX RegCo) announced the 
change of Listing Rules to limit to nine years the tenure of IDs serving on the boards of listed 
companies and to remove with immediate eff ect the two-tier vote mechanism for listed companies 
to retain long-serving IDs who have served for more than nine years. A transition period is given 
to fi nd new IDs, as such, existing IDs whose tenure exceeds the nine-year limit can continue to 
serve as IDs until the listed companies’ annual general meeting (“AGM”) held for the fi nancial 
year ending on or after 31 December 2023.

  Professor Tan Chin Tiong was appointed as Independent Director of the Company with eff ect from 
1 January 2015. On 1 January 2024, he will have served on the Board as Independent Director of 
the Company for an aggregate period of nine (9) years from the date of his fi rst appointment.

  In view of the above revised Listing Rules, Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai, Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee 
Wong Ching Wai and Professor Tan Chin Tiong will be stepping from the Board by next AGM, i.e. 
2024 AGM of the Company in respect of the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2024. The Company 
will commence its search process for suitable ID candidates to replace Mr Kishore Prabhakar 
Sardesai, Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai and Professor Tan Chin Tiong in due course.

  The Board is of the opinion that it would be most eff ective to draw on the appropriate core 
competencies and diversity of experience from the longer serving directors while concurrently 
taking progressive steps to review and consider opportunities to refresh the Board as and when 
deemed required.
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  The Company’s NC is responsible for examining the size and composition of the Board and 
Board Committees. Having considered the scope and nature of the Group’s businesses 
and the requirements of the business, the NC is of the view that the current board size and 
the existing composition of the Board and its committees exhibit a level of independence that 
suffi  ciently enables the Board and its committees to exercise objective judgment on corporate 
aff airs independently from the Management. The NC is also of the view that no individual 
or small groups of individuals dominate the Board’s decision-making processes. The Board 
has determined, taking into account the views of the NC, that each Independent Director is 
independent in character and judgement and that there are no relationships or circumstances 
which are likely to interfere, or could appear to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s 
independent judgement.

  Our directors’ profi les are set out on pages 6 to 9 of this Annual Report. Our Board members 
have the appropriate breadth and depth of expertise and experience.

  The current Board comprises Directors who as a group provide the appropriate balance and mix 
of skills, knowledge, experience and gender as well as relevant core competencies as follows:–

Balance and Diversity of the Board

Core Competencies Number of Directors Proportion of Board

Accounting or fi nance 5 100%

Business management 5 100%

Legal or corporate governance 3 60%

Relevant industry knowledge or experience 5 100%

Strategic planning experience 5 100%

Customer based experience or knowledge 3 60%

Gender

Male 4 80%

Female 1 20%

  To assist the NC in its annual review of the Directors’ mix of skills, and experiences that the Board 
requires to function competently and effi  ciently, the Directors have completed their assessment 
forms and provide additional information (if any) in their respective areas of specialization and 
expertise.

  The NC will continuously review the composition of the Board so that it will have the necessary 
competency to be eff ective. The NC will further consider other aspects of diversity, and assist the 
Board to put in place a board diversity policy and progress for implementation of such policy, so 
as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate.

  With its current board composition and considering the Company’s current business structure, 
the Company believes that it has a diversifi ed board in terms of appropriate balance and mix 
of skills, knowledge, and experience. The current Board comprises 5 directors, out of which 
3 are independent directors that made up a majority of the Board, as such, there is a strong 
independent element on the Board with no individual or groups of individuals are able to dominate 
the Board’s decision-making process as well as in compliance with the Provision 2.2 and 2.3 of 
the Code.
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  In addition, the board meets regularly and performs annual assessment to evaluate board 
effectiveness as well as its diversity. Any comments from board member are taken into 
consideration by the NC which in turn make recommendation to the Board where necessary. 
In view of the above, the Company believes that its practices are consistent with the intent of 
Principle 2 of the Code.

  The Group is committed to building a diverse, inclusive and collaborative culture. It recognises 
and embraces the benefi ts of diversity on the Board, and views diversity at the Board level as 
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable 
development. In view of the Rule 710A of the Listing Rules and the Code, the Company has 
adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) with the NC responsible to review 
and monitor its implementation.

  The NC will take into consideration the following factors to ensure diversity of thought and 
experiences on Board:

  a)  Age; 
  b)  Gender; 
  c)  Skills; 
  d)  Experience;  
  e)  Background;
  f) Ethnicity;
  g) Tenure of Service; and
  h) Independence.

  The Group’s targets with respect to Board diversity are: 

   To ensure that the Board is made up of at least half independent directors. Based on the 
current board composition, comprising one (1) Executive Chairman and CEO, one (1) Non-
Executive and three (3) Non-Executive and Independent Directors, the Board composition 
of having three (3) Independent Directors making up at least a majority of the entire Board 
is met and remains a constant ongoing target for the Group; 

   To have on Board individuals from various backgrounds, experience, age and gender to 
provide valuable insights across relevant industries, domain and fi elds. As demonstrated 
in the table above, the Board comprises individuals who bring a wealth of experience in 
various areas. This allows for robust discussions between Board members during decision 
making processes.

  All Board appointments will be based on merit and measured against objective criteria with due 
regard for the benefi ts of diversity on Board. The NC will review the Board Diversity Policy, as 
appropriate, to ensure its eff ectiveness, and discuss any revisions that may be required, and 
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

  The Non-Executive Directors constructively challenged and helped develop the Group’s proposals 
on business strategies. Management’s progress in implementing such agreed business strategies 
were monitored by the Non-Executive Directors.

  The Non-Executive Directors would meet on a need-basis without the presence of the 
Management to discuss on relevant matters and chairman of such meeting will provide feedback 
to the Board and/or Chairman as appropriate.
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 c. Role of Executive Chairman (“Chairman”) and CEO
  (Principle 3)

  Mr Jonathan Tahir is the Executive Chairman and CEO of the Group. His role is to oversee the 
overall management, strategic planning and business operations and development as well as 
fi nance and risk management of the Group.

  Under Provision 3.1 of the Code, the Chairman and the CEO are to be separate persons to 
ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability, and greater capacity of the 
Board for independent decision making. As Mr Jonathan Tahir is both the Executive Chairman 
and CEO of the Group, the Group has not complied with Provision 3.1 during FY2023.

  The Board is of the opinion that it is not necessary to separate the roles of the Chairman and 
the CEO after taking into account the size, scope and nature of the operations of the Group. 
Although the roles of Chairman and CEO are not separate, the Board is of the view that there are 
suffi  cient independent elements, safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision 
making by the Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any individual or 
groups of individuals exercising any considerable concentration of power or infl uence and there is 
accountability for good corporate governance.

  The Board is of the view that it is currently in the best interests of the Group to adopt a single 
leadership structure having Mr Jonathan Tahir as the Executive Chairman and CEO of the 
Group to facilitate the decision-making process of the Group and is thereby better able to guide 
discussions and ensures that the Board is properly briefed in a timely manner on pertinent 
issues and developments. In this respect, the Board is also of the view that there is a balance 
of power and authority with the Board comprises three (3) Independent Directors, one (1) Non-
Executive Director and one (1) Executive Director as well as various Committees all chaired by 
the Independent Directors. As the Board and its committees consist of a majority of independent 
directors, the Board believes that there are suffi  cient safeguards and checks to ensure that 
the process of decision-making by the Board is independent and based on collective decisions 
without any individual or group of individuals exercising any considerable concentration of power 
or infl uence, as such, no lead independent director has been appointed. The Company will review 
should such a need arise.

  All major proposals and decisions made by the Executive Chairman and CEO are discussed and 
reviewed by the AC. His performance and appointment to the Board is reviewed periodically by 
the NC and his remuneration package is reviewed periodically by the RC.

  The Board will take into consideration the separation of the role of the Chairman and the CEO as 
stipulated as part of the on-going succession planning and Board renewal process, which should 
materialise in the near future.

  The Board has established and set out the division of responsibilities between the roles of 
Chairman and the roles of CEO notwithstanding that these roles are assumed by the same 
person.
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  The Chairman’s roles and responsibilities include:

  (i) lead the Board to ensure its eff ectiveness on all aspects of its role;

  (ii) set the agenda and ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda 
items, in particular strategic issues;

  (iii) promote a culture of openness and debate at the Board;

  (iv) ensure that the Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;

  (v) ensure eff ective communication with Shareholders;

  (vi) encourage constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and the 
management;

  (vii) facilitate the eff ective contribution of Non-Executive Directors in particular;

  (viii) encouraging constructive relations between Executive Director and Non-Executive 
Directors; and

  (ix) promote high standards of corporate governance.

  The roles and responsibilities of the CEO are set out in a service agreement entered into between 
the Company and the CEO. The CEO is responsible for the development and expansion of the 
Group’s business and is responsible for the Group’s entire operations, strategic planning, major 
decision-making, as well as developing the business and vision of the Group.

  The Chairman is assisted by the management team in the daily operations and administration 
of the Group’s business activities and in the eff ective implementation of the Group’s business 
strategies. Information on key executives is set out on page 23 of this Annual Report.

  To further elaborate on major decision-making processes, the Company has put in place policies 
and procedures to ensure timely and eff ective communication between the CEO, management 
and the Board. All major proposals are discussed in an open manner during board meetings. Any 
feedback and comments from the Directors are taken into consideration before a fi nal decision 
is made. The Board approvals of major decisions are obtained and documented before the 
Company proceed with its decisions.

  In view of the above, the Company believes that its practices are consistent with the intent of 
Principle 3 of the Code.

  The Chairman also oversees the workings of the Board, ensuring that the Board is able to 
perform its duties and that there is a fl ow of information between the Board and the management. 
He reviews most of the board papers before they are presented to the Board. The management 
staff  who have prepared the papers, or who may provide additional insights, are invited to present 
the papers or attend the board meetings. He promotes an open environment for debate, and 
ensures that independent directors are able to speak freely and contribute eff ectively. He also 
plays a pivotal role in fostering constructive dialogue among stakeholders, the Board and the 
Management at various meetings.
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 d. Board Membership
  (Principle 4)

  We believe that board renewal must be an on-going process to ensure good governance and 
maintain relevance to the changing needs of the Group’s businesses.

  Nominating Committee

  To achieve a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors 
to the Board, the NC is responsible for identifying and selecting new directors. The Chairperson of 
the NC is an independent director and is not associated with any substantial shareholder, and the 
majority of the NC members are independent. The NC currently comprises:–

  Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai Chairperson 
  Professor Tan Chin Tiong Member
  Mr Jonathan Tahir Member

  The NC’s key terms of reference, describing its responsibilities, include:–

  (a) Reviewing and recommending the appointment and re-appointment of the Directors having 
regard to the Director’s contribution and performance, including attendance, preparedness 
and participation;

  (b) Determining on an annual basis whether or not a Director is independent in accordance to 
the Code;

  (c) Reviewing the succession, training and professional development programs for the Board 
and key management personnel;

  (d) Reviewing a Director’s multiple board representations on various companies and deciding 
whether or not such Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties 
as Director; and

  (e) Deciding on how the Board’s performance is to be evaluated and proposing objective 
performance criteria, subject to the approval by the Board.

  The NC selects and recommends the appointment and re-appointment of new directors to 
the Board after assessing the candidates’ qualifi cations, attributes and past experience. The 
candidates’ independence, expertise, background and skills will also be considered before the 
NC interviews the shortlisted candidates and makes its recommendations to the Board. This is to 
ensure a balanced board and to improve its overall eff ectiveness.

  All the directors are subject to the provisions of the Company’s Constitution whereby one-third 
of the directors are required to retire and subject themselves to re-election (“one-third rotation 
rule”) by the shareholders at every annual general meeting (“AGM”).

  A newly appointed director will have to submit himself for re-election at the AGM immediately 
following his appointment and, thereafter, he is subjected to the one-third rotation rule.
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  At the forthcoming AGM, Dr Clement Wang Kai and Professor Tan Chin Tiong are due for 
re-election pursuant to Regulation 115 of the Constitution of the Company. The NC has 
recommended and the Board has agreed for Dr Clement Wang Kai and Professor Tan Chin Tiong 
to retire and seek re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be convened on 28 June 
2023.

  The NC determines the independence of Directors annually in accordance with the provisions set 
out in the Code and Rule 210(5)(d) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the declaration form 
completed by each Non-Executive Director disclosing the required information. The NC is of the 
opinion that in respect of FY2023, the Board has been able to exercise objective judgment on 
corporate aff airs independently and that the Board’s decision making process is not dominated by 
any individual or small group of individuals.

  The NC ensures that new directors are aware of their duties and obligations. The NC also 
decides if a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a director 
of the company. The NC also determines annually whether a Director with multiple board 
representations is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the 
Company. The NC takes into account the results of the assessment of the eff ectiveness of the 
individual Director and the respective Directors’ actual conduct on the Board. The NC is satisfi ed 
that for FY2023, all the Directors have been able to and have adequately carried out their duties 
as Directors notwithstanding their multiple board representations.

  Currently, none of the Directors hold more than four directorships in other listed companies. The 
Board has not fi xed the maximum number of listed company board representations and other 
principal commitments which any Director may hold. It will do so when deemed necessary.

  The Board does not encourage approving the appointment of alternate directors except in 
exceptional cases. If an alternate director is appointed, the alternate director should be familiar 
with the Group’s aff airs and be appropriately qualifi ed. Currently, there is no alternate director on 
the Board.

  The detailed information of the Directors seeking re-election as required under Appendix 7.4.1 of 
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST can be found on pages 85 to 91.

  Key information of each director is set out on pages 6 to 9 of this Annual Report.

 e. Board Performance
  (Principle 5)

  The NC has implemented a formal evaluation process and is responsible for assessing:–

   the eff ectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board committees; and

   the contribution by the Chairman and each individual director to the eff ectiveness of the 
Board.

  The Board’s performance is assessed through its ability to steer the Group in the right direction 
and the support it renders to the management during diffi  cult times. For the purpose of evaluating 
directors’ and board committees’ performance, the NC takes into consideration a number of 
performance criteria and factors including the directors’ attendance, participation and contributions 
at the main board and board committee meetings and other Company’s activities.
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  The Directors and Committees’ Members were requested to complete respective appraisal 
forms to assess the overall eff ectiveness of the Board, the various Board committees and the 
individual Directors for FY2023. The results of the appraisal exercise were tabulated, analysed 
and considered by the NC which then made recommendations to the Board to ensure continuous 
improvement of the corporate governance of the Company and eff ectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and of each Board Committee separately as well as the contribution by the Chairman and 
each Individual Director.

  The NC uses its best eff orts to ensure that directors appointed to the Board possess the 
necessary background, experience, skills and knowledge in management, business and fi nance, 
which are critical to the Group’s business; and that each director is able to contribute his/her 
perspective, thus allowing eff ective decisions to be made. The NC conducts reviews of the 
Board’s performance taking into account inputs from the other Board members.

  Based on the above review, the NC is satisfi ed that the Board, as a whole, and its Board 
Committees, has been eff ective, and that each Director has contributed suffi  ciently to the eff ective 
functioning of the Board.

  No external facilitators were used in the performance assessment for FY2023.

2. REMUNERATION MATTERS

 Procedures for developing remuneration policies (Principle 6)
 Level and mix remuneration (Principle 7)
 Disclosure on remuneration (Principle 8)

 We believe in adopting a formal and transparent procedure for fi xing the remuneration packages of 
the directors and key management personnel so as to ensure that the level of remuneration should be 
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors and key management needed to run the Group’s 
business successfully.

 a. Remuneration Committee

  The RC was formed to achieve this formal and transparent process to evaluate the remuneration 
packages of the directors and key management. The RC comprises entirely of Non-Executive 
Directors, majority of whom, including the Chairman, are independent:

  Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai Chairman
  Dr Clement Wang Kai Member 
  Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai Member

  The RC’s key terms of reference, describing its responsibilities, include:

  (a) To review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration and specifi c 
remuneration package covering all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to 
directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share-based incentives and awards 
and benefi ts-in-kind as well as termination terms, of the Directors and key management 
personnel;

  (b) To review and ensure that the level and structure of remuneration of the Directors and key 
management personnel should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of 
the Company;
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  (c) To structure a signifi cant and appropriate proportion of executive directors’ and key 
management personnel’s remunerations so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance; and to ensure such remunerations should be aligned with the interests of 
shareholders and promote the long-term success of the Company; and

  (d) To review and ensure the remuneration of non-executive directors should be appropriate 
to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as eff ort and time spent, and 
responsibilities of the directors, and they should not be over-compensated to the extent that 
their independence may be compromised.

  The RC meets at least once a year. In its deliberations, the RC takes into consideration the 
industry practices and norms for remuneration packages. The RC may obtain independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense. The RC did not engage any remuneration 
consultant in respect of remuneration matters for FY2023.

  No director is involved in any discussion relating to his own remuneration, the terms and 
conditions of service or the review of his own performance.

  All directors are paid a fi xed board fee and no additional fees are payable to a director for 
appointment as a chairperson or member of a particular committee. The recommendations made 
by the RC in relation to such board fees are subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM.

  The RC reviews the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the key 
management personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair 
and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous.

  As the Company does not have any long-term incentive in the components of the remuneration 
packages of the key executives, the RC is of the view that the institution of contractual provisions 
in the employment to reclaim any incentive components of their remuneration paid in prior years 
is not necessary.

  In determining the remuneration of the key executives, the RC reviewed their respective 
achievements and assessed their performance for the fi nancial year under review.

 b. Disclosure on Directors’ Fees and Remuneration

  The directors’ fees and remuneration paid/payable by the Group are as follows:–

The Group
 2023 2022
$’000 $’000

Paid  and payable by the Group:
Directors’ remuneration
– Directors of the Company 485 406
– Other directors of subsidiaries – –

485 406
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  The following table shows the composition (in percentage terms) of the remuneration of the 
directors for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023.

Name of directors
Salaries

%
Bonuses

%

Directors’ 
Fees

%
Others

%
Total

%
Total 

Remuneration

– Mr Jonathan Tahir 92 8 – – 100 S$195,000
–  Dr Clement Wang Kai – – 100 – 100 S$72,500
–  Mr Kishore Prabhakar 

Sardesai – – 100 – 100 S$72,500
–  Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee 

Wong Ching Wai – – 100 – 100 S$72,500
–  Professor Tan Chin 

Tiong – – 100 – 100 S$72,500

  During FY2023, the Company had entered into a service agreement with the CEO in which 
the terms of his employment is stipulated. Under the agreement, he is paid a fi xed salary on a 
monthly basis. As an executive director, he does not receive any director’s fee.

  In respect of FY2023, the amount of directors’ fees proposed to be payable to the Non-Executive 
Directors (including the Independent Directors), subject to the approval of Shareholders at the 
forthcoming AGM.

  Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

  The RC reviews the framework for remuneration of the Directors and the management and 
recommends to the Board for adoption. The RC also determines specifi c remuneration packages 
and terms of employment for Executive Director and management staff .

  The RC’s recommendations in respect of the Directors’ remunerations are submitted for 
endorsement by the entire Board. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to 
Director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses and benefi ts-in-kind for the Board and senior 
management are covered by the RC.

  Each member of the RC will abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of his or her 
remuneration package.

  If necessary, the RC will seek expert advice inside and/or outside the Company on remuneration 
matters. The RC did not engage any remuneration consultant in respect of remuneration matters 
for FY2023.
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 c. Key Executives and Remuneration Policy

  The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff  comprising a fi xed component and a variable 
component. The fi xed component is in the form of a base salary and allowances. The variable 
component is in the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the Company and each individual’s 
performance.

  Details of remuneration paid to the key executives of the Group (who are not directors) for the 
year ended 31 March 2023 are all below $250,000. A breakdown of the level and mix of the 
remuneration of the key executives is as follows:–

Name of key executives
Salary

%
Bonus

%

Directors’ 
fees

%

Other 
benefi ts

%
Total

%

Total 
Remuneration in 
Compensation 

Bands

–  Ms Beatrice Goh 92 8 – – 100 S$100,001- 
S$200,000

–  Ms Liang Bo 92 8 – – 100 S$100,001- 
S$200,000

  The Company is required to disclose at least the top fi ve key management personnel and their 
remuneration in the Company’s annual report as required under Provision 8.1 of the Code. The 
Company currently has two key management personnel, as disclosed in its Annual Report 2023.

  Provision 8.1 stipulates that the Company should disclose the names, amounts and breakdown 
of remuneration of each individual director and the CEO. However, to maintain confi dentiality on 
the remuneration policies of the Company, the Board is of the view that it is in the best interests 
of the Company to keep the disclosure of remuneration of Key Management Personnel in 
remuneration bands.

  The aggregate amount of remuneration paid to the key executives (who are not Directors or 
CEO) is $246,000 (including CPF contribution thereon and bonus) for the fi nancial year ended 31 
March 2023 (2022: $208,000).

  The Company has no share-based compensation scheme or any long-term incentive scheme 
involving the off er of shares or options in place.

 d. Other management personnel (Not being an Executive Offi  cer of the Group)

  Pursuant to Provision 8.2 of the Code, the details of the remuneration (which comprises salaries, 
bonuses and benefi ts-in-kind only) of employees who are immediate family members of a director 
or the CEO or Substantial Shareholder, and whose remuneration exceeded S$100,000 during the 
year is disclosed below.
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  The following immediate family member of the Executive Chairman, CEO and Substantial 
Shareholder of the Company, Mr Jonathan Tahir:

Name
Family 

relationship Designation
Total Remuneration in 
Compensation Bands

– Ms Alim Michelle Kartika Wife Admin and 
HR Manager

S$100,001 – S$200,000 
(2022: S$100,001 – S$200,000) 
per annum.

  Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any other full-time employee who is an 
immediate family member of a Director or CEO or Substantial Shareholder of the Company, and 
whose remuneration exceeded S$100,000 for FY2023.

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

 Risk Management and Internal Controls (Principle 9)
 Audit Committee (Principle 10)

 Accountability and Audit Committee

 The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s 
performance, position and prospects, including interim and other price sensitive reports.

 The Board ensures by confi rming with Management and the external auditors that the fi nancial 
statements are prepared according to applicable accounting policies and accounting standards as well 
as comply with other legislative and regulatory requirements.

 The AC comprises entirely of Non-Executive Directors, all of whom, including the Chairman, are 
independent, and have accounting or related fi nancial management expertise or experience:–

 Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai Chairman 
 Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai Member 
 Professor Tan Chin Tiong Member

 The AC’s scope of work is governed by written terms of reference. Specifi cally, the AC meets on a 
periodic basis to perform the following functions:–

  Nominates the external auditors for appointment or re-appointment and reviews the level of audit 
fees;

  Reviews the audit plans and scope of work of the internal and external auditors;

  Reviews the fi ndings of the internal and external auditors and the response from management;

  Reviews the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the internal audit function, and the independence and 
objectivity of the internal auditors;

  Reviews the internal and external auditors’ evaluation of the adequacy of the Group’s system of 
accounting and internal controls;
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  Reviews any interested person transactions;

  Reviews the Group’s fi nancial results announcements and the fi nancial statements of the Group 
and of the Company as well as the auditors’ report thereon before they are submitted to the 
Board for approval;

  Reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial 
statements;

  Reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board; and

  Reviews the cost eff ectiveness of the audit and the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors.

 The AC is given full access to, and receives full cooperation from the management. The AC has full 
discretion to invite any director or management staff  to attend its meetings. It is empowered to 
investigate any matters relating to the Group’s accounting, auditing, internal controls and/or fi nancial 
practices that are brought to its attention; and has full access to records, resources and personnel to 
enable it to discharge its functions properly and eff ectively.

 During the fi nancial year, the AC met with the external auditors to discuss and review the fi nancial 
statements as well as the internal auditors on compliance with established internal controls of the 
Group.

 Formal procedures are in place for the internal and external auditors to report their fi ndings and 
recommendations to the management and AC. The internal and external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the AC. In addition, the AC meets up with the internal auditors and external auditors at least 
once a year without the presence of the management, in order to have free and unfi ltered access to 
information that it may require.

 The AC has reviewed the independence of the Company’s external auditors and is satisfi ed with the 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The aggregate amount of fees paid/payable to 
the external auditors of the Company and subsidiaries for audit services was S$76,500 in respect of 
fi nancial year 31 March 2023. Fees paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023 was S$15,700.

 The AC has recommended that Foo Kon Tan LLP be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at 
the forthcoming AGM. In recommending the re-appointment of the auditors, the AC considered and 
reviewed a number of key factors, including amongst other things, adequacy of the resources and 
experience of supervisory and professional staff  as well as the audit engagement partner to be assigned 
to the audit, and the size and complexity of the Group and its businesses and operations.

 The Group has also complied with Rules 712 and 715(1) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST in relation 
to the appointment of its external auditors in respect of FY2023.
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 Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures

 The AC and the Board have put in place the Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures which allows 
employees or any other persons to raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial 
reporting or other matters. To ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate 
follow-up action, all whistle-blowing reports will be addressed to the chairman of the AC. Details 
of the whistle-blowing policy have been made available to all employees of the Group. The Group’s 
Whistleblowing Policy (the “Policy”) allows employees to raise concerns and off ers reassurance that 
their identity is kept confi dential and they will be protected from reprisals, victimisation, detrimental or 
unfair treatment for whistle blowing in good faith.

 The Board, with the support of the AC, maintain oversight of any major issue arising from the policy 
and/or other enquiries into the conduct of the whistle-blowing process. The Policy is aligned with the 
requirements pursuant to the amended Rule 1207 (18A) and (18B) of the Listing Manual SGX-ST 
(eff ective from 1 January 2022). No whistle-blowing concerns were reported for FY2023 and until the 
date of this Annual Report.

 During FY2023, the AC members take measures to keep abreast of changes of accounting standards 
and issues which have a direct impact on fi nancial statements through attending training and seminars 
as well as receiving updates from the Group’s external auditor. No former partner or director of the 
Company’s existing auditing fi rm or auditing corporation is a member of the AC.

 Internal Audit

 The internal audit function of the Group has been outsourced to an independent professional fi rm, 
Tricor Axcelasia (SG) Pte Ltd (the “IA”) to strengthen the internal audit function and promote sound risk 
management, including fi nancial, operational and compliance controls and good corporate governance.

 For the FY2023, the IA reports directly to the AC Chairman on audit matters, and to the Executive 
Chairman and CEO on administrative matters. The AC is satisfi ed that the appointed IA meets and has 
carried out its function according to the standards set by internationally recognised professional bodies 
including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal 
Auditors.

 The AC is satisfi ed that the internal audit function is independent, eff ective, adequately resourced and 
comprehensively covers the major activities within the Group and approximately S$13,000 was paid to 
the IA for internal audit services for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023.

 Mr Ranjit Singh (“Mr Singh”) is a Regional Managing Director of Tricor Axcelasia. He has over 30 years 
of experience in internal and external audit, enterprise risk management, governance and forensic 
accounting. Mr Singh held various positions within KPMG Malaysia between June 1987 to December 
2005 where his last held role was a Partner. Mr Singh was a member of the Board of Directors of 
Global Institute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”) for the term 2017 to 2021. He was also a member of the 
Audit Committee of Global IIA, a member of the IIA’s International Internal Audit Standards Board and 
the President of Asian Confederation of the Institute of Internal Auditors. He was awarded a Certifi ed 
Internal Auditor (United States) and a Certifi cation in Risk Management Assurance (United States). He 
has led international industry engagements and spoken at the 2011, 2013 and 2021 IIA International 
Conferences, among others.
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 Risk Management and Internal Controls

 The Board is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal controls to safeguard Shareholders’ 
investments and the Group’s assets. The Board oversees the management in the design, 
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control systems and is responsible 
for determining the nature and the extent of the signifi cant risks which the Company is willing to take 
in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation. The Company currently does not have a Board 
Risk Committee as the Board is of the view that the Board and AC, with the help of the management, is 
suffi  cient in addressing the risk management and internal controls of the Company.

 The AC and the Board review on an annual basis the adequacy of the Group’s internal controls, 
operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems established by the 
management. The system of internal controls and risk management established by the Company 
are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s strategic 
objectives. The management is involved in regular reviews of the risks that are signifi cant to the 
fulfi lment of the objectives of the business. However, it should be recognised that such systems 
are designed to provide reasonable assurance, but not an absolute guarantee against material 
misstatement or loss. During FY2023, the Company’s appointed internal auditor, Tricor Axcelasia (SG) 
Pte Ltd, has conducted an internal audit review based on an agreed scope of review. In respect of 
FY2023 under review, the Board has received a written assurance from the Executive Chairman and 
CEO and Financial Controller:–

 (a) confi rming that the Group’s fi nancial records have been properly maintained and the Group’s 
consolidated fi nancial statements for FY2023 give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations 
and fi nances; and

 (b) confi rming that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems in place were adequate 
and eff ective to address the fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology risks as 
well as sanctions-related risks, and risk management systems in the context of the current scope 
of the Group’s business operations.

 Based on (i) the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, (ii) work performed by the 
internal and external auditors, (iii) reviews performed by the management, the AC and the Board, and 
(iv) the aforementioned letter of assurance provided by the Executive Chairman and CEO and Financial 
Controller, the Board with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, 
addressing fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology risks as well as sanctions-
related risks, and risk management systems were adequate and eff ective for FY2023 to address the 
risks that the Group considers relevant and material to its operations.

 The Board notes that no system of internal controls and risk management can provide absolute 
assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor 
judgement in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities. However, the Board, 
together with the AC and the management, will review the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the internal 
control framework on an on-going basis and address any specifi c issues or risks whenever necessary.

 International bodies and national governments have imposed sanctions on certain activities or 
transactions with targeted jurisdictions, entities and persons, with the primary aim of achieving foreign 
policy or national security goals. The Board confi rmed there has been no material change in its risk of 
being subject to any sanctions law. The Board and AC will be responsible for (a) monitoring the issuer’s 
risk of becoming subject to, or violating, any sanctions law; and (b) ensuring timely and accurate 
disclosures to SGX-ST and other relevant authorities.
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a. Risk Management

 The Group has identifi ed the following key risk areas:–

  Investment risk

  Operational risk

  Compliance and legal risk

  Financial risk

 i. Investment risk

  Investments and acquisitions are undertaken only after extensive and satisfactory due diligence 
work has been conducted and must be consistent with the Group’s strategies in focusing on 
the Group’s businesses. All major investment proposals are carefully evaluated and must meet 
minimum threshold hurdles and be assessed to be within tolerable risks parameters and they 
must be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.

 ii. Operational risk

  The Group’s operating risk is managed at each operating unit and monitored at the Group level. 
As operational risk cannot be eliminated completely, the Group has to weigh the cost and benefi t 
in managing these risks. The Group maintains suffi  cient insurance coverage taking into account 
the cost of cover and the risk profi les of the business in which it operates. The Internal Audit team 
complements the management’s role by providing an independent perspective on the controls 
that help to mitigate any operational risks.

 iii. Compliance and legal risk

  Although the operating business units are responsible for ensuring compliance with the relevant 
laws and regulations, the Group also obtained advice from external legal advisors where 
necessary.

 iv. Financial risk

  The Group’s fi nancial risk management’s objectives and policies are set out in note 21 of the 
Notes to the Financial Statements, found on pages 73 to 78 of the Annual Report.

b. Dealings in Company’s Securities

 The Group has implemented appropriate guidelines on dealings in the Company’s securities in 
compliance with the best practices as set out in Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual SGX-ST. All 
Directors and staff  of the Group are not allowed to trade in the Company’s securities during the periods 
commencing one month before the announcement of the Company’s half-yearly and full year fi nancial 
results respectively. To facilitate compliance, reminders are issued to all directors and staff  prior to the 
applicable trading black-outs. Our directors and staff , who are expected to observe insider trading laws 
at all times, are also discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations.
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4. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

 Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meeting (Principle 11)
 Engagement with Shareholders (Principle 12)

 Shareholder Rights and Engagement with Shareholders

 The Company’s corporate governance practices promote the fair and equitable treatment to all 
shareholders. To facilitate shareholders’ ownership rights, the Company ensures that all material 
information is disclosed on a comprehensive, accurate and timely basis via SGXNET, especially 
information pertaining to the Company’s business development and fi nancial performance which 
could have a material impact on the price or value of its shares, so as to enable shareholders to make 
informed decisions in respect of their investments in the Company.

 All shareholders receive the annual report and notices of all shareholder meetings. The notices for such 
meetings are also advertised in a local newspaper and made available on SGXNET. The chairpersons 
of the various board committees and the external auditors are invited to be present at our general 
meetings, to address any queries from our shareholders.

 The Company is fi rmly committed to corporate governance and transparency by disclosing to its 
stakeholders, including its shareholders, as much relevant information as is possible, in a timely, fair and 
transparent manner as well as to hearing its shareholders’ views and addressing their concerns.

 By supplying shareholders with reliable and timely information, the Company is able to strengthen the 
relationship with its shareholders based on trust and accessibility.

 General meetings have been and are still the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. At these 
meetings, shareholders are given opportunities to participate through open discussions and to vote on 
resolutions tabled.

 To promote a better understanding of shareholders’ views, the Board actively encourages shareholders 
to participate during the Company’s general meetings. These meetings provide excellent platform for the 
Company to obtain shareholders’ views on value creation.

 The Company does not have a formal dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of dividends 
declared each year will take into consideration the earnings, general fi nancial condition, results 
of operations, capital requirements, cash fl ow, general business conditions and other factors as the 
Board may deem appropriate. Given the Company’s investment strategy of keeping a strong balance 
sheet with suffi  cient resources for future investment purposes for long-term and sustainable growth, no 
dividend was declared in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023.

 Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

 At general meetings, shareholders of the Company will be given the opportunity to present their 
views and to put questions regarding the Group to Directors and Management. The Directors and 
Management will be present at these meetings to address any questions that shareholders may have. 
The external auditors will also be present to assist the Board in addressing queries by shareholders.

 Currently, the Constitution of the Company allows a member of the Company to appoint up to two 
proxies to attend and vote at general meetings. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967 of 
Singapore (the “Companies Act”), a member of the Company who is a relevant intermediary is entitled 
to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. “Relevant intermediary” has the 
meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act.
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 The Company practises having separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate 
issue. Where the resolutions are “bundled”, the Company will explain the reasons and material 
implications in the notice of meeting. The Company is of the view that its position is consistent with 
the intent of Principle 11 of the Code as shareholders have a right to attend general meetings either in 
person or by proxy, where they may exercise their right to speak and vote and have the opportunity to 
communicate their views on various matters aff ecting the Company. Further, shareholders, including 
those who did not attend the relevant general meeting, have a statutory right to be furnished copies of 
minutes of general meetings in accordance with Section 189 of the Companies Act. The Company is 
therefore of the view that, consistent with the intent of Principle 11 of the Code, as between themselves, 
shareholders are treated fairly and equitably by the Company.

 The Company will conduct voting by poll and an announcement detailing the results, including the total 
number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages will be announced 
via SGXNet after the conclusion of the general meeting. At present, the Company does not conduct 
voting by poll via electronic polling method as shareholders’ turn-out at general meetings have been 
manageable.

 As the authentication of shareholder identity and other related security and integrity issues still remain a 
concern, the Company has decided for the time being, not to implement absentia voting methods such 
as voting via mail, e-mail or fax.

 The forthcoming AGM of the Company is being convened, and will be held, by way electronics 
means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for 
Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 
2020 (the “Order”), as set out in the second column of the First Schedule of the Order. Minutes of 
the AGM to be held on 28 June 2023 will be published on the SGXNET and also at the Company’s 
corporate website within one (1) month after the AGM date.

5. MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

 Engagement with Stakeholders (Principle 13)

 The Group has identifi ed stakeholders as those who are impacted by the Group’s business and 
operations as well as those who have a material impact on the Group’s business and operations 
as provided in the Group’s 2023 Sustainability Report, the Company has regularly engaged its 
stakeholders through various channels to ensure that the business interests of the Group are aligned 
with those stakeholders, to understand and address the concerns so as to improve services and 
products standards, as well as to sustain business operations for long-term growth. The Company 
takes a pragmatic approach in managing stakeholders’ expectations to support its long-term strategy. 
Pertinent information and news are regularly conveyed to the stakeholders through SGXNet.

 Additionally, the Company maintains a corporate website at www.myp.com.sg to communicate and 
engage with stakeholders through the contact information of the Company which can be found on the 
website.
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6. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

 The Company has established a procedure for recording and reporting interested person transactions. 
There was no signifi cant interested person transaction for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023 
except for Mr Jonathan Tahir providing non-interest bearing loans and he and his close family member 
providing non-interest bearing guarantees to secure our Group’s obligations for the bank loans 
amounted S$325.0 million. Mr Jonathan Tahir also provided fi nancial and other support as necessary to 
the Group. The aggregate loan extended to the Group as at 31 March 2023 amounted to S$58.9 million. 
As the loans and guarantees provided by the interested persons are non-interest bearing, there is no 
amount at risk to the Group and accordingly, no value ascribed to the said transactions pursuant to Rule 
909 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. Accordingly, there are no interested person transactions to be 
disclosed under Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, which excludes transactions less than 
S$100,000.

 The Company did not obtain any general mandate from Shareholders for interested person transactions 
pursuant to Rule 920 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. There is no value at risk to the Company 
arising from the above transactions.

7. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

 Save for the service agreement between the CEO and the Company, and shareholder loans in the 
aggregate amount of S$58.9 million as at 31 March 2023 extended by Mr Jonathan Tahir to Grace 
Shine Pte Ltd, Aff reton Pte Ltd, Salveur Pte Ltd and the Company, there were no other material 
contracts or loan entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of the 
Executive Chairman and CEO, any director or controlling shareholder, which are either subsisting at the 
end of the fi nancial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous fi nancial 
year.

8. CORPORATE DISCLOSURE

 The Company believes that a high level of disclosure is essential to enhance the standard of corporate 
governance. Hence, the Company is committed to provide a high level of disclosure in all public 
announcements, press releases and annual reports.

9. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

 The Company has always fostered a socially responsible corporate culture amongst its management 
and staff . Our management team and employees are our assets. We recognise that the success of 
our Group is due in great part to our dedicated and passionate team of employees working together to 
deliver high quality services to our customers. Therefore, we take great care of employees by proving 
them a safe and healthy work premises and off er them opportunities to continually enhance and develop 
their core skills and knowledge base. In addition, we also provide classroom training and product 
knowledge, safety and product handling, new market trends and technologies so that our staff  stays 
up-to-date with the latest developments and trends within the industry. New employees will also be 
provided with mandatory orientation programmes to familiarise them with the Group’s corporate identity, 
policy and standard operating procedures.
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10. SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING

 Pursuant to Rule 711B(3) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, it requires issuers to conduct an internal 
review of their sustainability reporting process to increase stakeholder confi dence in the accuracy and 
reliability of the sustainability information disclosed.  

 In preparing the Sustainability Report for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023 (the “SR 2023”), 
the Group has engaged Capital Governance (S) Pte Ltd, a business consulting fi rm (the “Consultant”) 
to review its sustainability reporting framework, narratives, the disclosed materiality assessment, 
the disclosed data against targets set in the SR 2023, the associated data collection process 
and compliance with the Listing Rules. The Group has taken into consideration the feedback of the 
Consultant in preparing its SR 2023. 

 The Company is working towards the issuance of its sustainability report for FY2023 by 31 July 2023 
and such report will be made available to the shareholders on the SGXNet and the Company’s website.
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Name of directors 

 

 
 
Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (Cont’d)

Share options
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Share options (Cont’d) 

Share-based incentive 

Audit Committee 
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Audit Committee (Cont’d) 

Independent auditor 

............................................................................................. 

............................................................................................. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements

Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities
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Our response and work performed: 
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Items that may be reclassified subsequently
 to profit or loss: 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 



STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 43

 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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Adjustments for:
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 
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1 General Information 
 

2 Basis of Preparation 
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2 Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 
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2 Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 
 

Covid-19- Related Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
Property, plant and equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use 
Onerous Contracts- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 

 
 
3 Significant accounting policies 
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

 

Foreign currency transactions

Rental and service income

Other supplemental and ad-hoc income

Dividend income



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 53

 

 

3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Recognition and measurement

Subsequent costs

Depreciation
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Depreciation (Cont’d)
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial assets at amortised cost
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Hedges directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform 

Cash flow hedges
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Ordinary shares

Income Taxes

Simplified approach

General approach
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

General approach (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs

Credit-impaired financial assets



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 63

 

 

3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Write-off

pro rata

Short-term employee benefits
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

 
Defined contribution plans

 
Insurance Contracts 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
    
 
Definition of Accounting Estimates 
Deferred Tax related to Assets and 
   Liabilities arising from a Single 
   Transaction 
Classification of Liabilities as 
   Current or Non-current  
Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
   an Investor and its Associate or 
   Joint Venture 
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 

4 Revenue 
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5 Net finance costs 

6 Tax expense 
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7 Profit for the year
 

 
 
8 Earnings per share 

Weighted average number of shares 
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9 Plant and equipment 
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10 Other assets 

11 Investment properties 
 

12 Subsidiaries  
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12 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

13 Trade and other receivables 
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14 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

15 Share capital  
 

16 Reserves 
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17 Bank borrowings - secured 
 

 

Market and liquidity risks 

Terms and debt repayment schedule

18 Trade and other payables 
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19 Amount owing to a shareholder

20 Related party transactions 

Key management personnel 

 
Key management personnel compensation
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21 Financial instruments 

Exposures to credit risk 

Expected credit loss assessment for trade receivables
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21 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

 

Trade receivables

Non-trade amount due from a subsidiary

Cash and cash equivalents 

Guarantees
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21 Financial instruments (Cont’d) 
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21 Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

 

# Excludes unearned revenue 

Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk
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21 Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
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21 Financial instruments (Cont’d) 
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22 Determination of fair values  

Investment properties

Fair value hierarchy 

Level 3 fair value
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22 Determination of fair values (Cont’d) 
 

 
  
  

 

23 Leases 
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23 Leases (Cont’d) 

24 Segment reporting  

(a) Operating segments 

(b) Geographical segments 

(c) Information about major customers 
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Property Location Tenure
Nature of 
property Held for

Fair value
$’000

MYP Centre 9 Battery Road
Singapore 049910

999 years leasehold 
commencing from

20 April 1826

Commercial Investment 554,000

A unit of Sky@Eleven 09 Thomson Lane
Singapore 297726

Freehold Residential Investment 4,400

A unit of Sky@Eleven 11 Thomson Lane
Singapore 297727

Freehold Residential Investment 4,000

A unit of St. Regis
Residences

33 Tanglin Road
Singapore 247913

999 years leasehold 
commencing from

24 November 1995

Residential Investment 6,600

569,000



SHAREHOLDING
STATISTICS

AS AT 23 MAY 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 83

SHARE CAPITAL AS AT 23 MAY 2023

Number of Shares in issue : 1,592,469,212 
Number of Shareholders :  5,409 
Class of Shares :  Ordinary Shares
Treasury Shares : Nil
Voting Rights :  One vote per ordinary share 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 23 MAY 2023

Size of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders %
No. of 

Shares %

1 - 99 160 2.96 8,242 0.00
100 - 1,000 2,008 37.12 1,141,434 0.07
1,001 - 10,000 2,391 44.21 8,665,377 0.55
10,001 - 1,000,000 839 15.51 43,855,336 2.75
1,000,001 and above 11 0.20 1,538,798,823 96.63
Total 5,409 100 1,592,469,212 100

LIST OF 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
AS AT 23 MAY 2023

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 1,399,117,694 87.86
2 BNP PARIBAS NOMS SPORE PL 54,417,412 3.42
3 MAYAPADA CORPORATION PTE LTD 45,374,250 2.85
4 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 13,685,149 0.86
5 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 9,929,660 0.62
6 CHU SIEW HOONG CHRISTOPHER 3,939,000 0.25
7 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 3,761,708 0.24
8 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,891,625 0.18
9 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 2,401,150 0.15
10 HT OFFSHORE PTE. LTD. 2,000,000 0.13
11 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 1,281,175 0.08
12 NG CHUI YEN 987,200 0.06
13 ONG CHYE HIN 688,000 0.04
14 NG PENG CHIANG OR KOH EE HOON 671,000 0.04
15 TIGER BROKERS (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 630,800 0.04
16 PEH CHENG HOON (BAI QINGFEN) 600,000 0.04
17 SZE SEE YEE OR ANG SEOK MOEY 600,000 0.04
18 WOON HEE CHOY 578,200 0.04
19 ANG HAO YAO (HONG HAOYAO) 538,800 0.03
20 LEE KHING YOONG VINCENT 533,332 0.03

Total: 1,544,626,155 97.00
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 23 MAY 2023

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total
Substantial 
Shareholders

Number of 
Shares %

Number of 
Shares %

Number of 
Shares %

Jonathan Tahir(1) 1,374,313,044 86.30 45,374,250 2.85 1,419,687,294 89.15
 
Nole:

(1) By virtue of Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, Mr Jonathan Tahir is deemed interested in the Shares 
held by Mayapada Corporation Pte. Ltd.

Public Float

Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited requires that at least 
10% of the total number of issued shares (excluding preference shares and convertible equity securities) of a 
listed company in a class that is listed is at all times held by the public. Based on information available to the 
Company as at 23 May 2023 approximately 10.14% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company was held 
by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual has been complied with.



SUPPLEMENTAL 
INFORMATION

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 85

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON DIRECTOR SEEKING RE-ELECTION PURSUANT TO RULE 
720(6) OF THE LISTING MANUAL OF THE SGX-ST

The following information relating to Dr Clement Wang Kai and Professor Tan Chin Tiong, each of whom 
is standing for re-election as a Director at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 
convened on 28 June 2023, is provided pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited:–

Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

Date of Appointment 27 July 2012 1 January 2015

Date of last re-appointment 30 July 2021 7 September 2020

Age 64 74

Country of principal residence Singapore  Singapore 

The Board’s comments on this 
appointment (including rationale, 
selection criteria, and the search 
and nomination process)

The Board of Directors of the 
Company has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of 
the Nominating Committee and 
has reviewed and considered the 
qualifi cation, work experience 
and suitability of Dr Clement 
Wang Kai for re-election as 
the Non-Executive Director of 
the Company. The Board have 
reviewed and concluded that 
Dr Clement Wang Kai possesses 
the experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to contribute 
towards the core competencies of 
the Board. 

The Board of Directors of the 
Company has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of 
the Nominating Committee and 
has reviewed and considered the 
qualifi cation, work experience 
and suitability of Professor Tan 
Chin Tiong for re-election as 
an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company. 
The Board have reviewed 
and concluded that Professor 
Tan Chin Tiong possess the 
experience, expertise, knowledge 
and skills to contribute towards 
the core competencies of the 
Board. 

Whether appointment is 
executive, and if so, the area of 
responsibility

Non-Executive Non-Executive

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC 
Chairman, AC Member etc.)

 Non-Executive Director
 Member of the Remuneration 

Committee

 Independent Non-Executive 
Director

 Member of the Audit 
Committee

 Member of the Nominating 
Committee

Professional qualifi cations PhD in Engineering, University of 
Waterloo, Canada

PhD in Business, Pennsylvania 
State University, USA
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Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

Working experience and 
occupation(s) during the past 10 
years

 CEO of Mayven Capital Pte. 
Ltd.

 Actively involved in a few 
non-profi t organisations in 
Asia.

 Visiting Professor at the NUS 
Business School, National 
University of Singapore (NUS)

 Executive Vice President at 
Overseas Union Enterprises 
Limited

 Director at Lippo Realty 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd, Food 
Junction Holdings Ltd and IPP 
Financial Services Holdings 
Ltd.

 

 Emeritus Professor, founding 
Provost and Deputy President 
of Singapore Management 
University 

 Professor of Marketing, 
Lee Kong Chian School of 
Business

 Founding President of 
Singapore Institute of 
Technology

 On board of Citibank 
Singapore Ltd and several 
other listed companies

 Non-executive chairman of 
Superior Multi-Packaging 
Ltd and chaired its executive 
committee

 Served on committees of 
various government bodies

Shareholding interest in the listed 
issuer and its subsidiaries

Deemed Interest - 11,351,250 
ordinary shares

None

Any relationship (including 
immediate family relationships) 
with any existing director, existing 
executive offi  cer, the issuer 
and/or substantial shareholder of 
the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

None None 

Confl ict of Interest (including any 
competing business)

No No

Undertaking (in the format set 
out in Appendix 7.7) under Rule 
720(1) has been submitted to the 
listed issuer

Yes Yes

Other Principal Commitments* 
Including Directorships# 
Past (for the last 5 years)

Past
China Gold Pte Ltd
Choregeo Pte Ltd
Emporium Sky Limited
Food Junction Pte Ltd
Greenix Limited
HKCL Investments Pte Ltd
Kingtek Limited
Lippo Consortium Pte Ltd
Lippo Global Assets Limited

Past
Health Management 
International Ltd
Methodist Girl’s School 
(Secondary)
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Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

Lippo Global Investments Pte Ltd
Lippo Group International Pte Ltd
Lippo Land Corporation
Lippo Real Estate Pte Ltd 
Ramba Energy Limited
Sunning Asia Limited
The Legends Golf & Country 
Resort Bhd
Wealthy Place Limited
Winnox Incorporated
Winrider Limited
Zenford Incorporated

Present Present
Capital Strategy Pte Ltd
Noble Land International Limited
Sona Topas Pte Ltd
Prime Garden Enterprises Limited
Raff erio Pte Ltd
Ethnos Limited
Anglio Premier International 
Limited
Grace Shine Pte. Ltd.
Wing Harvest Limited
Overcomers Summit Pte Ltd
Spring Capital Enterprises Limited
Summertime Limited
Asia Research Center ARC 
Foundation
Mayven Capital Pte Ltd
Gracious Land Pte. Ltd.
Galasco Investments Limited
Integrity Vision Pte Ltd
Alon Media Center
Kukia House Visitors Center Ltd
Laurel Century Limited
PT Precise Pacifi c Realty
Mayapada Digital Pte Ltd
Liberty Square International 
Limited

Present
Coteccons Construction Joint 
Stock Company (Vietnam) 
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Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive offi  cer, chief 
fi nancial offi  cer, chief operating offi  cer, general manager or other offi  cer of equivalent rank. If the 
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

a) Whether at any time 
during the last 10 years, 
an application or a petition 
under any bankruptcy law 
of any jurisdiction was fi led 
against him or against a 
partnership of which he was 
a partner at the time when 
he was a partner or at any 
time within 2 years from 
the date he ceased to be a 
partner?

No No

b) Whether at any time 
during the last 10 years, 
an application or a petition 
under any law of any 
jurisdiction was fi led against 
an entity (not being a 
partnership) of which he was 
a director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive, 
at the time when he was 
a director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive 
of that entity or at any time 
within 2 years from the date 
he ceased to be a director 
or an equivalent person 
or a key executive of that 
entity, for the winding up 
or dissolution of that entity 
or, where that entity is the 
trustee of a business trust, 
that business trust, on the 
ground of insolvency?

No No

c) Whether there is any 
unsatisfi ed judgment against 
him?

No No

d) Whether he has ever been 
convicted of any off ence, 
in Singapore or elsewhere, 
involving fraud or dishonesty 
which is punishable with 
imprisonment, or has been 
the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings 
of which he is aware) for 
such purpose?

No No
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Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

e) Whether he has ever been 
convicted of any off ence, 
in Singapore or elsewhere, 
involving a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities 
or futures industry in 
Singapore or elsewhere, 
or has been the subject of 
any criminal proceedings 
(including any pending 
criminal proceedings of 
which he is aware) for such 
breach?

No No

f) Whether at any time during 
the last 10 years, judgment 
has been entered against 
him in any civil proceedings 
in Singapore or elsewhere 
involving a breach of 
any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates 
to the securities or futures 
industry in Singapore or 
elsewhere, or a fi nding of 
fraud, misrepresentation 
or dishonesty on his part, 
or he has been the subject 
of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending 
civil proceedings of which 
he is aware) involving 
an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part?

No No

g) Whether he has ever been 
convicted in Singapore or 
elsewhere of any off ence 
in connection with the 
formation or management of 
any entity or business trust?

No No

h) Whether he has ever 
been disqualifi ed from 
acting as a director or an 
equivalent person of any 
entity (including the trustee 
of a business trust), or 
from taking part directly or 
indirectly in the management 
of any entity or business 
trust?

No No
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Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

i) Whether he has ever 
been the subject of any 
order, judgment or ruling 
of any court, tribunal 
or governmental body, 
permanently or temporarily 
enjoining him from engaging 
in any type of business 
practice or activity?

No No

j) Whether he has ever, to his 
knowledge, been concerned 
with the management or 
conduct, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, of the aff airs of:–

 i. any corporation 
which has been 
investigated for a 
breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement 
governing corporations 
in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

 ii. any entity (not being a 
corporation) which has 
been investigated for 
a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement 
governing such entities 
in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

 iii. any business trust 
which has been 
investigated for a 
breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement 
governing business 
trusts in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or 

 iv. any entity or business 
trust which has been 
investigated for a 
breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement 
that relates to the 
securities or futures 
industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere in 
connection with any 
matter occurring or 
arising during that 
period when he was 
so concerned with the 
entity or business trust?

No No
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Name of Director Dr Clement Wang Kai Professor Tan Chin Tiong

k) Whether he has been the 
subject of any current or past 
investigation or disciplinary 
proceedings, or has been 
reprimanded or issued any 
warning, by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore or any 
other regulatory authority, 
exchange, professional 
body or government agency, 
whether in Singapore or 
elsewhere?

No No

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only

Any prior experience as a director 
of a listed company? 
If yes, please provide details of 
prior experience.
If no, please state if the director 
has attended or will be attending 
training on the roles and 
responsibilities of a director of a 
listed issuer as prescribed by the 
Exchange. 
Please provide details of relevant 
experience and the nominating 
committee’s reasons for not 
requiring the director to undergo 
training as prescribed by the 
Exchange (if applicable).

Not applicable as this relates to 
the re-election of a director

Not applicable as this relates to 
the re-election of a director
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MYP LTD.
(Company Registration No. 200509721C)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) of MYP Ltd. (the “Company”) will 
be convened and held by way of electronic means on Wednesday, 28 June 2023 at 4:00 p.m. (Singapore 
time) to transact the following business:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors’ Statement and the Report of the 
Auditors thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$290,000 for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2023.

(Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Regulation 115 of the 
Company’s Constitution:-

(a) Dr Clement Wang Kai; and 

(b) Professor Tan Chin Tiong.

(See Explanatory Note 1)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

4. To re-appoint Messrs Foo Kon Tan LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise 
the Directors to fi x their remuneration.

(Resolution 5)
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without modifi cations, the following resolution as Ordinary 
Resolution:-

5. AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES

“THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore and Rule 
806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company 
to issue and allot new shares (“Shares”) in the capital of the Company (whether 
by way of rights, bonus or otherwise), and/or make or grant off ers, agreements or 
options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to be issued, 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares at any time and 
upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fi t provided that:

(a) the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance 
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 
fi fty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time 
of the passing of this Resolution, of which the aggregate number of Shares 
and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to all 
shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of 
the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) in the share capital of the Company;

(b) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) 
for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be 
issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, the total number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) shall be based on the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) 
of the Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting 
for:

 (i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible 
securities;

 (ii) new Shares arising from the exercise share options or vesting of Share 
awards outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed, 
provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII 
of Chapter 8 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual; and

 (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

 and adjustments made in accordance with sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above 
are only to be made in respect of new Shares arising from convertible 
securities, share options or share awards which were issued and outstanding 
or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution and, in relation to an 
Instrument, the number of Shares shall be taken to be that number as would 
have been issued had the rights therein been fully exercised or eff ected on the 
date of the making or granting of the Instrument;
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(c) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall 
comply with the requirements imposed by the SGX-ST from time to time and 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force 
(in each case, unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all 
applicable legal requirements under the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore and 
otherwise, and the Constitution of the Company for the time being; and

(d) such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general 
meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company 
or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be 
held, whichever is earlier.

(See Explanatory Note 2) (Resolution 6)

6. To transact any other business which may properly be transacted at an AGM of the 
Company. 

On behalf of the Board

Jonathan Tahir
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi  cer 
13 June 2023 

Explanatory Notes:-

1. Dr Clement Wang Kai (Non-Executive Director) will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, continue to serve as a member 
of the Remuneration Committee. He is considered non-independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST.

 Professor Tan Chin Tiong (Independent Non-Executive Director) will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, continue to serve 
as a member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee. He is considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of 
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

 Detailed information of Dr Clement Wang Kai and Professor Tan Chin Tiong can be found under the “Board of Directors” and 
“Disclosure of Information on Directors seeking re-election pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST” sections in 
the Company’s Annual Report 2023.

2. The proposed Ordinary Resolution 6, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of the AGM until the 
date of the next AGM, to allot and issue Shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding fi fty 
per centum (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the 
Company, of which up to twenty per centum (20%) may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis. For the purpose of this resolution, 
the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) is based on the Company’s total number 
of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) at the time this proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed 
after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities, the exercise of share options or 
the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed and any 
subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.
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PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any 
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the 
Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration and analysis by the Company (or its agents 
or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation 
and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in 
order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/
or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of 
such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any 
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.

Notes:

1. The AGM is being convened, and will be held, by way of electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) 
(Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and 
Debenture Holders) Order 2020. Printed copies of this notice of AGM (the “Notice”) will not be sent to members. 
Instead, this Notice will be sent to members by way of electronic means via an announcement on the SGX website at the URL 
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL 
http://myp.com.sg. 

2.  Members will not be able to attend the AGM in person. Members will be able to attend the proceedings of the AGM through a “live” 
webcast via their mobile phones, tablets or computers or through a “live” audio feed via telephone. In order to do so, members who 
wish to attend the “live” webcast or “live” audio feed must pre-register by 4:00 p.m. on 25 June 2023 (the “Registration Deadline”) 
at URL https://conveneagm.com/sg/myp2023. Following authentication of their status as members, authenticated members will 
receive email instructions on how to access the webcast and audio feed of the proceedings of the AGM by 4:00 p.m. on 26 June 
2023. Members who do not receive an email by 4:00 p.m. on 26 June 2023 should contact the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor 
Barbinder Share Registration Services by phone call at +65 6236 3550 / +65 6236 3555 during operating hours from 8:30 a.m. to 
5:30 p.m. or via email at sg.is.enquiry@sg.tricorglobal.com for assistance.

 Shareholders must not forward the abovementioned link to other persons who are not Shareholders and who are not entitled to 
attend the AGM. This is also to avoid any technical disruptions or overload to the “live” webcast and/or “live” audio feed. Recording 
of the “live” webcast and/or “live” audio feed of the proceedings in whatever form is also strictly prohibited.

 Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries as defi ned in Section 181(C) of the Companies Act, including CPF and 
SRS Investors, who wish to participate in the AGM should, in additional to pre-registering, approach their respective agents at least 
seven working days before the AGM, so that the necessary arrangements can be made by the relevant agents for their participating 
in the AGM.

3. Members who pre-register to attend the AGM may ask textual questions relating to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM 
for approval, “live” at the AGM, by typing in and submitting their questions through the “live” chat function via the platform. 
Shareholders will not be able to ask questions “live” at the AGM via the audio-only stream of the AGM proceedings. 

 Members may also submit questions relating to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM in advance of the AGM. Such 
questions must be received by the Company in the following manner no later than 4:00 p.m. on 21 June 2023: 

 (a) via the pre-registration website at URL https://conveneagm.com/sg/myp2023; or

 (b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company at agm.questions@myp.com.sg; or

 (c) via post, to the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services, at 80 Robinson Road, #11-02, 
Singapore 068898.

 To ensure that Shareholders’ substantial and relevant questions are received by the Company by the stipulated deadline, 
Shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit their questions via the pre-registration website and/or via email.

  For verifi cation purpose, when submitting any questions via email or by post, members MUST provide the Company with their 
particulars (comprising full name (for individuals)/company name (for corporates), email address, contact number, NRIC/ passport 
number/company registration number, shareholding type and number of shares held). 
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 The Management and the Board of Directors of the Company will endeavour to address the substantial queries from members 
at least 48 hours prior to the closing date and time of the lodgement of the proxy forms by publishing the responses to those 
questions on SGXNET at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and the Company’s website at the URL 
http://myp.com.sg. Where substantial and relevant questions submitted by members are unable to be addressed prior to the 
AGM, the Company will address them at the AGM. The minutes of the AGM, including responses to substantial queries from the 
members which are addressed during the AGM, shall thereafter be published on SGXNet and the Company’s corporate website at 
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements, within one (1) month from the date of the AGM. 

  Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries as defi ned in Section 181(C) of the Companies Act, including CPF and 
SRS Investors, can submit their questions in relation to any resolution set out in the Notice of AGM upon pre-registration, however, 
they must, in addition to pre-registering, approach their respective agents at least seven working days before the AGM, so that the 
necessary arrangements can be made by the relevant agents for their participation in the AGM.

 4. A member will not be able to attend the AGM in person. Members who wish to exercise their voting rights at the AGM may:

 (a) (where such members are individuals) vote “live” via electronic means at the AGM; or

 (b) (where such members are individuals or corporates) appoint a proxy(ies) (other than the Chairman of the AGM) to vote “live” 
via electronic means at the AGM on their behalf; or 

 (c) (where such members are individuals or corporates) appoint the Chairman of the AGM as their proxy to vote on their behalf 
at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, members (whether individuals or corporates) must give specifi c 
instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment will be treated as 
invalid.

 Vote “Live” at the AGM

 Members, who wish to vote “live” via electronic means at the AGM must fi rst pre-register themselves at the pre-registration website 
at URL https://conveneagm.com/sg/myp2023. 

 “Live” voting will be conducted during the AGM. It is important for members and proxies to have their own web-browser enabled 
devices ready for voting during the AGM. Examples of web-browser enabled devices include mobile smartphones, laptops, tablets 
or desktop computers with internet capabilities. 

 Members, or where applicable, their appointed proxy(ies) must access the AGM proceedings via the “live” webcast in order to vote 
“live” at the AGM and will not be able to do so via the “live” audio feed of the AGM proceedings. Instructions will be provided at the 
start of the AGM on how to vote.

5. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

 6. Members who wish to appoint proxies (other than the Chairman of the AGM) to attend the AGM and vote “live” at the AGM on their 
behalf must do both of the following:

 (a) complete and submit the Proxy Form in accordance with the instructions below; and 

 (b) pre-register the proxy(ies) at the pre-registration website by the Registration Deadline at URL 
https://conveneagm.com/sg/myp2023 by 4:00 p.m. on 25 June 2023.

 As an alternative to “live” voting, members may also vote at the AGM by appointing the Chairman as proxy to vote on their behalf in 
respect of all the Shares held by them.

7. The Proxy Form must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:

 (a) via the following URL https://conveneagm.com/sg/myp2023 (the “MYP AGM Website”) in the electronic format accessible on 
the MYP AGM Website; or

 (b) if submitted by post, be lodged at the offi  ce of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services 
at 80 Robinson Road, #11-02, Singapore 068898; or 

 (c) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company’s Share Registrar at sg.is.proxy@sg.tricorglobal.com,

 in either case, not less than 72 hours before the time for holding the AGM and at any adjournment thereof.

  A member who wishes to submit a Proxy Form must fi rst download, complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post 
to the address provided above, or before scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above.
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  Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries as defi ned in Section 181(C) of the Companies Act, including CPF and 
SRS investors, who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies (including the Chairman), should approach their respective agents to submit 
their votes at least seven working days before the AGM in order to allow suffi  cient time for their respective relevant intermediaries to 
in turn submit a Proxy Form to vote on their behalf by 4:00 p.m. on 25 June 2023.

 
8. The Annual Report 2023 may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL http://myp.com.sg and on the SGX website at the 

URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/annual-reports-related-documents.

9. The Proxy Form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is 
executed by a corporation, it must be either under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised offi  cer.

10. Where a Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly 
certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the Proxy Form, failing which the Proxy 
Form may be treated as invalid.

11. The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions 
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the Proxy Form  (such as in the case where 
the appointor submits more than one instrument of proxy).

12. In the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form (or any related attachment) if 
the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register as at 
72 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



MYP LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No. 200509721C)

PROXY FORM
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

IMPORTANT:
1. The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is being convened, and will be held, by way of electronic means pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for 

Companies, Variable Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020. Printed copies of the Notice of AGM will not be sent to members. Instead, it will be sent to 
members by electronic means via announcement on the SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL 
http://myp.com.sg.

2. Alternative arrangements relating to attendance at the AGM via electronic means (including arrangements by which the AGM can be electronically accessed via live audio-visual webcast or live audio-only 
stream), submission of questions in advance of the AGM, addressing of substantial and relevant questions at the AGM and “live” voting at the AGM are set out in the Notice of AGM dated 13 June 2023. 
The Notice of AGM may be accessed at the Company’s website at the URL http://myp.com.sg, and on the SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.

3. If a member who wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the AGM, he/she/it may:
 (a) (where the member is an individual) vote “live” via electronic means at the AGM; or 
 (b) (where the member is an individual or a corporate) appoint a proxy(ies) (other than the Chairman of the AGM) to vote “live” via electronic means at the AGM on their behalf; or 
 (c) (where the member is an individual or corporates) appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM. In appointing the Chairman of the 

AGM as proxy, a member (whether individual or corporate) must give specifi c instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment will be treated as 
invalid.

4. This Proxy Form is not valid for use and shall be ineff ective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by CPF/SRS investors who hold ordinary shares through their CPF/SRS funds. 
CPF/SRS investors who wish to vote should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes at least seven working days before the AGM.

5. By submitting this Proxy Form, the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM dated 13 June 2023.

I/We  (Name) of NRIC/Passport/Company Registration No, 

of  (Address)
being a member/members of MYP Ltd. (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholding(s)
No. of Shares %

Address and Email Address 

and/or (delete where appropriate)
Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholding(s)

No. of Shares %
Address and Email Address 

as *my/our *proxy/proxies, or failing him/them, the Chairman of the AGM of the Company, to attend, speak and vote for 
*me/us on *my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held by way of electronic means on Wednesday, 28 June 2023 at 
4:00 p.m. (Singapore time) and at any adjournment thereof. 
I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for, against and/or to abstain from voting on the Ordinary Resolutions to be proposed 
at the AGM in the spaces provided hereunder. If no specifi c direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies may vote or 
abstain from voting at his/their discretion. 
(Voting will be conducted by poll manually. If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate with a 
tick (√) in the “For” or “Against” box. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes “For” or “Against” as appropriate 
in the resolution. If you wish to “Abstain” from voting on the resolution, please indicate with a tick (√) in the “Abstain” box. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of shares which you wish to abstain from voting. In the absence of directions for the 
resolution, the appointment of Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy for the resolution will be treated as invalid. If no specifi c 
direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her/their discretion.)

NO. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
VOTING ABSTAIN FROM 

VOTING**FOR ** AGAINST **
ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Adoption of the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for 

the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors’ Statement 
and the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$290,000 for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 March 2023.

3. Re-election of Dr Clement Wang Kai as Director pursuant to 
Regulation 115 of the Company’s Constitution.

4. Re-election of Professor Tan Chin Tiong as Director pursuant to 
Regulation 115 of the Company’s Constitution.

5. Re-appointment of Messrs Foo Kon Tan LLP as Auditors of the 
Company and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
6. Authority to allot and issue shares.

* Delete as appropriate

Dated this  day of  2023
Total Number of Shares held in: No. of Shares
CDP Register
Register of Members

Signature(s) of member(s) or
Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF BEFORE COMPLETING THIS PROXY FORM.



NOTES:
1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 

(as defi ned in section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 
Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of 
Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and 
vote at the AGM. Such proxy need not be a Member of the Company. Where a Member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be 
invalid unless he specifi es the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3. A member of the Company who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at 
the AGM, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a diff erent share or shares held by such member. Where 
such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number of shares to be represented by each proxy must be stated.

 “Relevant Intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.
4. The Proxy Form must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:
 a. via the following URL https://conveneagm.com/sg/myp2023 (the “MYP AGM Website”) in the electronic format accessible on the 

MYP AGM Website; or
 b. if submitted by post, be lodged at the offi  ce of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services 

at 80 Robinson Road, #11-02, Singapore 068898; or
 c. if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to the Company’s Share Registrar at sg.is.proxy@sg.tricorglobal.com,
 in either case not less than 72 hours before the time appointed for the AGM.
 A member who wishes to submit a Proxy Form must fi rst download, complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to 

the address provided above, or before scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above.

Please fold here

PROXY FORM

Affi  x 
Postage 
Stamp

The Company’s Share Registrar
MYP LTD.

Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
80 Robinson Road

#11-02
Singapore 068898

Please fold here

5. The Proxy Form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is executed 
by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised offi  cer.

6. Where a Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly 
certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the Proxy Form, failing which the Proxy Form 
may be treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t to act as 
its representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.

8.  Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries as defi ned in Section 181(C) of the Companies Act, including CPF and SRS 
investors, who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies (including the Chairman), should approach their respective agents to submit their votes 
at least seven working days before the AGM in order to allow suffi  cient time for their respective relevant intermediaries to in turn submit 
a Proxy Form to vote on their behalf by 4:00 p.m. on 25 June 2023.

9. The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions 
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the Proxy Form (such as in the case where 
the appointor submits more than one instrument of proxy). In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the 
Company may reject a Proxy Form (or any related attachment) if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered 
against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certifi ed by The Central 
Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR JONATHAN TAHIR (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

DR CLEMENT WANG KAI (Non-Executive Director)

MR KISHORE PRABHAKAR SARDESAI (Independent Non-Executive Director)

MRS ELIZABETH HO NEE WONG CHING WAI (Independent Non-Executive Director)

PROFESSOR TAN CHIN TIONG (Independent Non-Executive Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai (Chairman) 
Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai 
Professor Tan Chin Tiong

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai (Chairperson) 
Professor Tan Chin Tiong
Mr Jonathan Tahir

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr Kishore Prabhakar Sardesai (Chairman) 
Dr Clement Wang Kai
Mrs Elizabeth Ho Nee Wong Ching Wai

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms Pan Mi Keay
Mr Lee Wei Hsiung

REGISTERED OFFICE
9 Battery Road
#09-03 MYP Centre
Singapore 049910

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
9 Battery Road
#09-03 MYP Centre
Singapore 049910

SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
80 Robinson Road
#11-02
Singapore 068898

AUDITORS
Foo Kon Tan LLP 
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
1 Raffles Place
#04-61 One Raffles Place Tower 2
Singapore 048616
Partner-in-Charge: Mr. Kong Chih Hsiang Raymond
(Appointed from the financial year ended 31 March 
2022)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hong Leong Finance Limited
16 Raffles Quay #01-05 Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

Malayan Banking Berhad, Singapore Branch
2 Battery Road #16-01 Maybank Tower
Singapore 049907

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
65 Chulia Street OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513

Bank Mayapada Internasional, Tbk 
Mayapada Tower, Ground Floor
Jl. Jend. Sudirman Kav. 28
Jakarta 12920 Indonesia

Standard Chartered Bank (Singapore) Limited
8 Marina Boulevard
Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 1, Level 29
Singapore 018981



9 Battery Road  #09-03  MYP Centre 
Singapore 049910 

Phone: 65 6224 6838  Fax: 65 6534 7653 
Website: www.myp.com.sg


